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Independent auditors’ report 
 
 
To the Shareholder of the OJSC Rusnano: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of OJSC RUSNANO and 
its subsidiaries (further, “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 



 

 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of OJSC RUSNANO and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011, and of 
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Other matter 
 
The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 were audited by 
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements 5 July 2011. 
 

 
 
27 June 2012 
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In millions of Russian Roubles Note 
For the year ended  
31 December 2011 

For the year ended  
31 December 2010 

    

Income    

Interest income 17 1,875 2,143 
Income from financial guarantees issued  144 83 
Other operating income  570 280 

Total income  2,589 2,506 

    

Operating expenses 18 (5,554) (5,120) 

    
Net gains on financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss 19 8,877 8,799 

    

INCOME FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES, NET  5,912 6,185 

    

Finance costs 20 (4,682) (284) 

    

Profit before income tax  1,230 5,901 

    

Income tax 21 (223) (1,931) 

    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  1,007 3,970 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Foreign currency translation differences 14 990 41 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  990 41 

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR  1,997 4,011 
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In millions of Russian 
Roubles Note Share capital 

Capital 
contribution 

Retained 
Earnings 

Currency 
translation 

reserve Total equity 
       
As at 1 January 2010  - 63,600 5,307 - 68,907 
       
Profit for the year  - - 3,970 - 3,970 
       
Other comprehensive income  - - - 41 41 
       

Total comprehensive income  
for the year  - - 3,970 41 4,011 

       
Capital contributions 14 - 1,000 - - 1,000 
       

As at 31 December 2010  - 64,600 9,277 41 73,918 

       
Profit for the year  - - 1,007 - 1,007 
       
Other comprehensive income  - - - 990 990 
       

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  - - 1,007 990 1,997 

       
Contributions to the Fund for 
Infrastructure and  
Educational Programs 14 - (10,956) - - (10,956) 
       
Reorganization 14 6,500 (53,644) 47,144 - - 
       
Issue of shares 14 47,242 - - - 47,242 
       

As at 31 December 2011  53,742 - 57,428 1,031 112,201 
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In millions of Russian Roubles Note 
For the year ended  

31 December 2011 
For the year ended  

31 December 2010 

    

Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit before income tax  1,230 5,901 

Adjustments for:    

    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 672 402 

Amortisation of intangible assets 8 90 45 

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 8 43 - 

Interest income 17 (1,875) (2,143) 

Interest expenses 20 4,624 178 

Provision for financial guarantees 22 - (1,080) 
Net gains on financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss 19 (8,877) (8,799) 

Foreign exchange translation differences 20 58 106 

Operating cash flows before working capital changes  (4,035) (5,390) 

    

Increase in other receivables and prepayments  (1,322) (1,956) 

(Decrease)/Increase in other payables and accrued expenses  (194) 164 

(Increase)/Decrease in other current assets  (60) 17 

Changes in working capital  (1,576) (1,775) 

    

Income taxes paid  (6) (1,023) 

Interest paid  (4,270) (121) 

Interest income received  1,702 2,268 

Net cash used in operating activities  (8,185) (6,041) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of investments in associate 9 - (1,528) 
Acquisition of equity instruments at fair value  
through profit or loss 26 (27,582) (17,520) 

Acquisition of financial assets held for trading 26 (2,960) - 

Proceeds from sale of financial assets held for trading  212 - 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 23 - 86 

Loans issued 26 (5,619) (6,673) 

Repayment of loans  229 21 

Prepayments for equity investments 11 - (136) 

Net bank deposits (issued)/returned 12 (46,929) 25,390 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (362) (4,444) 

Acquisition of intangible assets 8 (60) (205) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (83,071) (5,009) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 15 24,600 42,854 
Acquisition of net assets attributable to non-controlling 
participants of subsidiaries 23 25 - 

Capital contributions by the Russian Federation 14 - 1,000 
Contributions to the Fund for Infrastructure and  
Educational Programs 14 (10,956) - 

Issue of shares 14 47,242 - 

Net cash provided from financing activities  60,911 43,854 

    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (30,345) 32,804 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents held in foreign currencies  (109) 41 
    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13 33,845 1,000 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 3,391 33,845 
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1 RUSNANO Group and Its Operations 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2011 for the Open Joint-Stock Company RUSNANO 
(OJSC RUSNANO, the ―Company‖) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ―Group‖ or the 
―RUSNANO Group‖). 
 
OJSC RUSNANO was established in March 2011 as an open joint-stock company through the reorganization 
of the Russian Corporation of Nanotechnologies (the ―Corporation‖).  
 
The Corporation was established on 19 September 2007 by the Government of the Russian Federation 
based on Federal Law No. 139-FZ ―On the Russian Corporation of Nanotechnologies‖ dated 19 July 2007. 
 
Federal Law No.211-FZ ―On Reorganization of the Russian Corporation of Nanotechnologies‖ (―Federal Law 
No.211-FZ‖) was adopted on 27 July 2010. It defined the legal basis, principles and order of reorganization of 
the Corporation. In accordance with Federal Law No.211-FZ the Corporation was transformed into Open 
Joint-Stock Company RUSNANO (―OJSC RUSNANO‖). OJSC RUSNANO assumed all rights and 
responsibilities of the Russian Corporation of Nanotechnologies under the principle of universal succession. 
The reorganization was completed and the Сorporation ceased its operations on 11 March 2011 upon 
government registration of OJSC RUSNANO. 

In accordance with Federal Law No.211-FZ the Fund for Infrastructure and Educational Programs (the 
―Fund‖), a nonprofit organization, was established by the Company in October 2010. The Fund encourages 
the development of the innovative infrastructure for nanotechnology and implements programs in education 
and the infrastructure that the Company has initiated. Following a resolution of the Government of the Russian 
Federation, the Corporation has provided contributions of RR 10,956 million to the Fund for Infrastructure and 
Educational Programs in January 2011 (Note 14). 

Principal activity. The Group was formed to implement the policy of the Russian Federation with respect to 
nanotechnology, to develop an innovative infrastructure for nanotechnology and initiate projects on the 
creation of advanced nanotechnologies and nano-industry in Russia. The main activity of the Group is to 
invest funds in line with the above-mentioned State policy.  
 
The Company is a venture capital organisation. 
 
The RUSNANO Group’s investment activity is focused on funding nano-technology projects at the initial 
stage, when the opportunities to raise funds from private capital funds are limited due to high risks and market 
and technological uncertainty. The Group plans to withdraw from projects when certain production criteria are 
met and a private investor is ready to finance the project independently. The return on the Group’s 
investments in such projects is determined by the terms and conditions stipulated in the investment 
agreement.  
 
The subsidiaries of the Group were formed or acquired in line with the main Group’s activities stated above 
(Note 23). 
 
Before the date of reorganisation the Group’s equity was represented by the capital contribution provided by 
the Russian Federation and was presented as Net assets attributable to the Russian Federation in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. As a result of the reorganization on 11 March 2011 
the Government of the Russian Federation has become the sole owner of 100% of the shares in the 
Company’s share capital. 
 
Registered address and place of business. The Company’s registered address is: Prospekt 60-letiya 
Oktyabrya, 10A, 117036, Moscow, Russian Federation.  
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1    RUSNANO Group and its Operations (continued) 
 
Segment information. Under the IFRS 8 ―Operating Segments‖ operating segments are components of an 
enterprise on which separate financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the chief 
operating decision-maker (further – ―CODM‖) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance. The Management Board of the Company has been determined as the CODM. For 
management purposes, the Group is organised into one main operating segment in accordance with IFRS 8, 
which invests in equity and debt instruments and related derivatives. Accordingly, all significant operating 
decisions are based upon analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from this segment are 
equivalent to the financial statements of the Group as a whole. 
 
The Group operates in one industry segment being the investor with respect to developing an innovative 
nanotechnological infrastructure and initiating projects on the creation of advanced nanotechnologies. 
The financial position and results of this segment as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
respectively. 
 
The Group performs most of its activities in the Russian Federation and does not have any significant non-
current assets other than financial assets located in foreign countries or any significant income from foreign 
countries except for gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss from foreign projects. 
 
2 Operating Environment of the Group 
 
Russia continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required 
by a market economy. The future stability of the Russian economy is largely dependent on these reforms and 
development and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the 
government. 
 

The global financial crisis had an impact on the Russian economy. Despite certain signs of economic 
recovery, there continues to be uncertainty concerning future economic growth and the cost of capital, which 
could adversely affect the Company's financial position, the results of operations and business prospects. 
 
Revised investment budgets and the more challenging situation in the markets targeted by the Group’s 
investments have led management to revise future cash flow projections in respect of the Group’s investment 
projects, when the changed conditions were known and present at the end of the reporting period. Refer to 
Notes 10 and 26 for details of the assessment of the fair value of the Group’s investments. 
 
The Group’s major assets are the financial instruments, i.e. equity or debt instruments, which are not quoted 
in the active market. The fair values of these financial instruments as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 have 
been determined as the amount for which these assets could be exchanged, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction. As none of the Group’s investee shares are traded in the active market, 
the fair value calculations are based on transaction prices, valuation models and discounted cash flows 
prepared by the Group. Determining fair value requires consideration of current market conditions, future 
business plans of investees, potential liquidity of the market and current credit spreads. The valuation 
techniques used by management to determine fair values in the absence of an active market include adjusted 
present value or scenario analysis and utilizes interest rates applicable to similar borrowers on the Russian 
market. 
 
While management believes it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Company’s 
business in the current circumstances, further deterioration in the areas described above could negatively 
affect the Company’s results and financial position in a manner not currently determinable. 
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3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of preparation  
 
The financial statements of the RUSNANO Group have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and 
financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. These 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s consolidated entities is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates. The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries 
established in the Russian Federation, and the Group’s presentation currency, is the national currency of the 
Russian Federation, i.e., Russian Roubles (―RR‖).  
 
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into each entity’s functional currency at official exchange rates; 
for Russian companies at the rates published by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation and for foreign 
companies at rates quoted in their local markets at the end of the respective reporting period. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities into each entity’s functional currency at year-end official exchange rates of the CBRF are 
recognised in profit or loss for the year (as foreign exchange translation gains less losses). Translation at 
year-end rates does not apply to non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency, including equity investments, are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Effects of exchange rate changes on non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
 
The results and financial position of each Group entity are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:  
 

- assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing 
rate at the end of the respective reporting period;  
 

- income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);  
 

- components of equity are translated at the historic rate, and  
 

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. 
 
At 31 December 2011, the principal rate of exchange used for translating foreign currency balances was 
USD 1 = RR 32.1961 (2010: USD 1 = RR 30.4769); EURO 1 = RR 41.6714 (2010: EURO 1 = RR 40.3331); 
CHF 1 = RR 34.2366 (2010: CHF 1 = RR 32.4084). 
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Consolidated financial statements 
 
(a) Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are companies and other entities (including special purpose entities) in which the Company, 
directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one-half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to 
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits. The existence and effect of the potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or obtainable from presently convertible instruments are 
considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity.  
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company (acquisition date) 
and are deconsolidated from the date on which that control ceases. 
 
The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable assets acquired as 
well as liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair 
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.  
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between the Group companies are 
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Company and all 
of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the RUSNANO Group’s policies. 
 
Subsidiaries with the Group’s ownership of less than 100% are limited liability companies (LLCs). According 
to the Russian legislation, a participant in LLC has the right to withdraw from the LLC at any time and to 
require payment for its share in the cost of net assets of the company determined with regard to the statutory 
accounts of LLC as at 31 December of the year prior to withdrawal. The LLC is obliged to pay to the 
participant its share within six months after the financial year in which the participant declared about exit.  
 
Thus, according to IAS 32 ―Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation‖ and IFRIC Interpretation 2 
―Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments‖, the part of the net results and of the 
equity of subsidiaries determined in accordance with IFRS attributable to interests which are not owned, 
directly or indirectly, by the Company are classified as net assets attributable to the non-controlling 
participants of subsidiaries and form a separate component of the Group’s non-current liabilities. The non-
controlling participants’ share in profit or loss of those subsidiaries is presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income as finance income or expense. 
  
(b) Associates and joint ventures 
 
Associates are entities over which the Company has significant influence (directly or indirectly), but not 
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. A joint 
venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is 
subject to joint control.  
 
Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (project companies) that are held and managed on an 
investment portfolio basis are classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The 
designation of these investments into the fair value through profit or loss category of financial instruments is 
permitted for venture capital organisations and similar entities.  
 
If investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are held to coordinate the innovation activity of the 
Group in the field of nano-industry, these investments are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net 
assets of such associates are recognised as follows: (i) the Group’s share of profits or losses of associates 
is recorded in the consolidated profit or loss for the year as the share of the result of associates, (ii) the 
Group’s share of other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented separately. Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
(a) Classification 
 
The Group classifies its debt and equity investments, including embedded derivatives, as financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss at inception. These financial assets and financial liabilities are managed and 
their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. 
 
Investment managers of the Company are required to evaluate the performance of the financial assets and 
liabilities using their fair value at the end of the reporting period together with other related financial 
information pertaining to the particular investment project. Assets and liabilities included in this category are 
classified as current assets and current liabilities if they are expected to be realised within 12 months from the 
end of the reporting period. Those that are not expected to be realised within 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period are classified as non-current. Capital commitments to purchase further investments are 
classified as financial instruments and disclosed in Note 24. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss also include financial assets held for trading. Financial 
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in 
the near term. This category includes equity securities and debt instruments. These assets are acquired 
principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price. All derivatives and 
liabilities from short sales of financial instruments are classified as held for trading. 
 
Cash inflows and outflows from the operations with financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from investment activities on a gross 
basis.  
 
 

(b) Recognition, de-recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. Fair value at initial 
recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. Gain or loss on initial recognition is recorded only if 
there is a difference between the fair value and the transaction price, which can be evidenced by other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs 
include only data from observable markets. If the Group provides financing to a project company by the 
package of investments which includes several financial instruments, the transaction price of the full 
investment package is determined. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
the Group has transferred largely all risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Following initial recognition, all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ―financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss‖ category are presented in the statement of comprehensive income with regard to the changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
 
Interest income on debt investments at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as part of the fair value gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss.  
 
(c) Fair value estimation 
 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  
 
As none of the Group’s investee shares are traded in the active market, the fair value calculations for equity 
investments are based on valuation models and discounted cash flows prepared by the Group. The Group 
also considers the original transaction price and adjusts the model as deemed necessary for such factors as 
non-sustainable earnings, investment and growth stages. The valuations produced by the primary techniques 
incorporate the effects of any embedded derivatives (such as call and put options) relating to the equity 
instrument. 
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 
 
The Group’s valuation technique for debt instruments is the present value of estimated future cash flows 
based on a discounted cash flow model. The discount rate used by the Group is based on the risk-free rate of 
the economic environment in which project companies operate, adjusted with other factors, such as the 
investment stage period, liquidity, and credit and market risk factors. Cash flows used in the discounted cash 
flows model are based on the projected cash flows or earnings of the project companies. In determining fair 
valuation, the Group in many instances uses on the financial data of investees and on estimates by the 
management of the investee companies as to the effect of future development. Although best judgement is 
used in estimating the fair value of investments, there are inherent limitations in any estimation techniques. 
The fair value estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amount the Group could realise 
in a current transaction. Future events will also affect the estimates of fair value. The effect of such events on 
the estimates of fair value could be material in relation to the financial statements. 
 
Derivative financial instruments are often embedded in investment agreements entered into by the Group. If 
derivatives are embedded, they are not valued separately, but rather are built into the valuation models 
determining the range of fair value movements for a particular investment.  
 
(d) Transaction costs 
 
Transaction costs are incremental costs directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if a transaction had not taken place. 
Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as selling 
agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer 
taxes and duties. Transaction costs relating to instruments at fair value through profit or loss are immediately 
recognised in profit or loss as an expense when incurred.  
 
(e) Loans  
 
Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in the 
active market.  
 
Loans receivable are carried at fair value as they are managed together with the related equity interest on a 
total return basis (interest or dividends and changes in fair value). Management of the Company believes that 
the interest rates for loans receivable issued in 2011 equal market rates for loans with similar conditions; 
hence, the discount rate for such loans has been determined individually for each loan. The discount rates 
have been determined using the build-up approach by applying the additional risk premia to the Russian risk-
free rate. These additional risk premia were calculated based on the available market statistics on spreads 
between risky and risk-free securities. 
 
Interest income on loans is included in the net changes recognised in the fair value of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
 
(a) Bank deposits  
 
Bank deposits are financial assets carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All bank 
deposits are presented together, including those with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
Impairment losses on bank deposits at amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition and which have an impact on the 
amount or timing of the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.  
 
Cash inflows and outflows from the operations with bank deposits are presented in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from investment activities on a net basis. 
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued) 
 
(b) Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and on bank on-demand accounts.  
 
(c) Receivables  
 
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in the 
active market. Receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment. 
Receivables are included in current assets, unless they have maturities greater than 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period, in which case they are classified as non-current assets. 
 
A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts due to be received. Significant financial difficulties of the counterparty, the probability that 
the counterparty will become bankrupt, and a default in payments are considered indicators that the amount 
to be received is impaired. 
 
Prepayments 
 
Prepayments are carried at cost less provision for impairment. A prepayment is classified as non-current 
when the goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to be obtained after one year, or when 
the prepayment relates to an asset which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial recognition.  
 
If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not be received, the 
carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss for the year. 
 
Prepayments for equity investments are classified as rights to obtain shares and presented within equity 
investments at fair value through profit or loss when management see objective evidence that the registration 
process with relevant regulatory authorities would be completed in the nearest term.  
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, 
if any.  
 
Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. The cost of replacing major parts or 
components of property, plant and equipment is capitalised and the replaced part is retired. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of 
property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, 
which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  
 
The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss for the period. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior periods may be reversed if there has 
been a positive change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to 
sell. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognised in profit or loss for the year.  
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their costs less their residual values over their estimated useful lives:  
 

 Useful lives in years 
Building 15 - 30 years 
Computer and office equipment 2 – 7 years  
Other  5 – 20 years 

 
The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from its disposal 
less the estimated costs of disposal if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the 
end of its useful life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and, if appropriate, adjusted at 
the end of each reporting period. Assets under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation of these assets 
will begin when the related assets are available for use. 
 
Operating leases  
 
Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease payments are charged to profit or loss for the year on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease term is the non-cancellable period for which the lessee 
has contracted to lease the asset together with any further terms for which the lessee has the option to 
continue to lease the asset, with or without further payment, when at the inception of the lease it is reasonably 
certain that the lessee will exercise the option. 
 
Intangible assets  
 
The Group’s intangible assets primarily include software licenses, patents, intellectual property rights and 
trademarks and have finite useful life. Acquired computer software licences, intellectual property rights, 
patents and trademarks are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and put them to use.  
 
Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives: 

 Useful lives in years 
Software licences 2 – 3 years 
Intellectual property rights 3 – 5 years 
Trademarks 10 years 
Other  7 – 20 years 

 
If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of the value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell. 
 
Income taxes  
 
Income taxes have been provided for in the financial statements in accordance with the legislation enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The income tax charge comprises current tax and 
deferred tax and is recognised in profit or loss for the year except if it is recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity because it relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a 
different period, in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  
 
Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities in respect of taxable 
profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes other than on income are recorded in the operating 
expenses. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forward and the 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not 
recorded for temporary differences upon initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.  
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Income taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will be reversed or the tax 
loss carry forward will be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted only in individual companies of 
the Group. Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forward are recorded 
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available and against which the 
deductions can be utilised.  
 
Equity 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of the 
consideration received over the par value of the shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

Prior to the date of reorganisation, the Group’s equity was represented by the Net assets attributable to the 
Russian Federation and comprised the residual amount of the capital contributions made by the State, 
retained earnings and other accumulated elements of comprehensive income.  
 
Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of 
the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest 
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
 
Trade and other payables  
 
Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty performs its obligations under a contract and are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Provisions for liabilities and charges  
 
Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They are 
accrued when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, or when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
 
Financial guarantees  
 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder of the guarantee for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due under 
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, which is 
normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. A service fee is accrued annually during the existence of 
the guarantee. At the end of each reporting period, the guarantees are measured at the higher value of (i) the 
remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition, and (ii) the best estimate of the 
expenditure required for settling the obligation at the end of the reporting period.  
 
Guarantees received 
 
Guarantees received by the Group are accounted at their cost. 
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3     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Interest income and dividend income 
 
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. It includes 
interest income from cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits. Interest income on debt instruments 
designated at fair value through profit or loss is not presented separately and is included in the increase or 
decrease in the fair value of such financial assets. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation’s state pension and social insurance funds, paid 
annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health services and other) are 
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the Group’s employees.  
 

4 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements 
and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next reporting period. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. The 
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and 
the estimates that can cause a significant adjustment in the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
future financial periods are presented below. 
 
Fair value of equity investments not quoted in the active market 
 
The fair value of equity investments not quoted in the active market at initial recognition is best evidenced by 
the transaction price. Differences between transaction price and amount determined using valuation 
technique as of transaction day is a ―day one gain/loss‖. In cases where fair value is determined using data 
which is not observable, the differences between the transaction price and the model value are recognised in 
profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised. 
 
Following initial recognition, the fair value of equity securities of project companies is determined by using 
valuation techniques, primarily financial models based on the estimated future cash flows. The financial 
models are prepared based on the cash flow forecasts, approved by the Investment Committee, which have 
been updated for the circumstances and events which occurred subsequently and before the end of the 
reporting period and were known to management as of the end of the reporting period. Management used 
adjusted present value models and factored in the probability of development of various scenarios - optimistic 
and pessimistic, based on the assigned risk profile for each project company. According to the optimistic 
scenario, the project would achieve its goals if the following assumptions are applicable: 

- expected capital expenditures are calculated on the basis of available offers and current 
understanding of construction expenses;  

- main variable expenses (raw materials) and general and administrative expenses are calculated with 
regard to the expected market trends and are indexed with the projected inflation rate; 

- sales levels are limited only by production capacities and their expected use concerning a project 
company. 

 
According to the pessimistic scenario, the project would not achieve its goals, and management discounted 
the expected proceeds from the sale of assets to the end of reporting period. The estimated fair value of 
equity instruments takes into account the probability of both scenarios as well as the estimated project risks. 
In the discounted cash flow models, unobservable inputs are the projected cash flows of the relevant project 
company and the risk premium for liquidity and credit risk that are incorporated in the discount rate. However, 
the discount rates used for valuing equity securities are determined with regard to the expected equity returns 
for other entities operating in the same industry for which market returns are observable. Models are 
periodically reviewed by the Company’s investment managers. The sensitivity of the factors impacting the fair 
value estimation for equity investments is presented in Note 24. 
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4    Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Fair value of equity instruments with embedded options 
 
Management has analysed the terms in the investment contracts in respect of its equity investments, 
including the embedded call and put options. The options embedded in the investment contracts are not 
separated from the host instruments. Management embedded the effects of the options in the financial 
models for such project companies with the options limiting the fluctuation of the possible outcomes of a 
particular investment in a definite range. The majority of such investment projects are at a start-up phase; 
therefore, management considers it appropriate to account for such debt instruments at a fair value limited by 
the values embedded in the put or call options, which are in-the-money upon expiry of the investment 
agreement. Put options contain the unconditional rights to sell options embedded in the investment contract. 
Call options contain the rights but not the obligations to buy options embedded in the investment contract. 
The sensitivity analysis of the reasonably possible changes in the discount rate is presented in Note 24. 

Interest rates affecting the loans receivable 
 
The discount rates used to determine the fair value of the loans receivable as at 31 December 2011 are 
within the range of 12-16% per annum (2010: 20% per annum) and have been determined by the build-up 
approach by applying additional risk premia to the Russian risk-free rate. These additional risk premia were 
calculated by using the available market statistics on spreads between risky and risk-free securities. These 
discount rates have been confirmed by an analysis of market rates for loans with similar conditions. 

The sensitivity of the factors impacting the fair value estimation for the market interest rate is presented in 
Note 24. 

Valuation of loans  
 
Underlying the valuation of loans receivables are cash flow forecasts using the discounted cash flow valuation 
technique. Management reviews the loan portfolio to assess whether there is any observable data indicating 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from loans receivable. This evidence may include 
observable data indicating an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers, or national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group of loans. The cash flow estimates 
consider the possible realisable value of collateral, if any. Gains or losses resulting from both changes in the 
estimates of future cash flows and changes in the discount rates are presented in profit or loss as an increase 
or a decrease in the fair value of financial assets through profit or loss. 
 
Deferred income tax asset recognition 
 
The recognised deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future deductions from 
taxable profits and is recorded in the statement of financial position. Deferred income tax assets are recorded 
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. The future taxable profits and the 
amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future are based on the medium-term business plan prepared 
by management, which extrapolated the results thereafter. The business plan is based on management 
expectations believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
 

5 New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
(a) The following new standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2011: 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment). The IASB issued an amendment that alters the 
definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to enable entities to classify rights issues and certain options or 
warrants as equity instruments. The amendment is applicable if the rights are given pro rata to all of the 
existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number 
of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. The amendment has had no effect 
on the financial position or performance of the Group because the Group does not have these type of 
instruments. 
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5   New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)  
 
IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amendment). The amendment removes an 
unintended consequence when an entity is subject to minimum funding requirements and makes an early 
payment of contributions to cover such requirements. The amendment permits a prepayment of future service 
cost by the entity to be recognised as a pension asset. The amendment of the interpretation has no effect on 
the financial position nor performance of the Group. 
 
In May 2010, the IASB issued its third omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. 
The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies, but no impact on the 
financial position or performance of the Group: 

- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments — Disclosures: The amendment was intended to simplify the 
disclosures provided by reducing the volume of disclosures around collateral held and improving 
disclosures by requiring qualitative information to put the quantitative information in context.  

- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The amendment clarifies that an entity may present 
an analysis of each component of other comprehensive income either in the statement of 
comprehensive income or in the notes to the financial statements.  

 
The following new standards and amendments became effective for the Group from 1 January 2011 and did 
not have an impact on these financial statements: 

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (the measurement options available for non-controlling interest; 
contingent consideration arising from business combination prior to adoption of IFRS 3 (as revised in 
2008); un-replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards). 

- IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

- IAS 34 Interim Financial Statements. 

- IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (determining the fair value of award credits). 

- IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments. 

 

(b) Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2012 or later and which the Group has not early adopted. The Group intends 
to adopt applicable standards when they become effective.  
 
IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. The 
amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income. Items that 
could be reclassified (or ―recycled‖) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition 
or settlement) would be presented separately from items that will never be reclassified. The amendment 
affects presentation only and has there no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. The 
amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 
 
IAS 12 Income Taxes – Recovery of Underlying Assets. The amendment clarified the determination of 
deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value. The amendment introduces a rebuttable 
presumption that deferred tax on investment property measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 should 
be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore, it introduces 
the requirement that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets that are measured using the revaluation model in 
IAS 16 always be measured on a sale basis of the asset. The amendment becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 
 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amendment). The IASB has issued numerous amendments to IAS 19. These 
range from fundamental changes such as removing the corridor mechanism and the concept of expected 
returns on plan assets to simple clarifications and re-wording. The Group is currently assessing the full impact 
of the remaining amendments. The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. 
 
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011). As a consequence of the new IFRS 10 and 
IFRS 12, what remains of IAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and 
associates in separate financial statements. The Group does not present separate financial statements. The 
amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
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5   New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)  
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011). As a consequence of the new 
IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. IAS 28 has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and 
describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The 
amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements. The 
amendment requires additional disclosure about financial assets that have been transferred but not 
derecognised to enable the user of the Group’s financial statements to understand the relationship with those 
assets that have not been derecognised and their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires 
disclosures about continuing involvement in derecognised assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, 
and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in those derecognised assets. The amendment 
becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. The amendment affects disclosure 
only and has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.  
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement. IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase 
of the IASBs work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of 
financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and 
measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but will potentially have no impact on classification and 
measurements of financial liabilities. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, 
when issued, to present a comprehensive picture. 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also 
includes the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single 
control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes introduced by IFRS 
10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled, and 
therefore, are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. 
This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-
controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 removes the option to account for 
jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a 
joint venture must be accounted for using the equity method. The Group is currently assessing the impact that 
this standard will have on the financial position and performance. This standard becomes effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities. IFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures that were 
previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all of the disclosures that were 
previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28. These disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are also required. This 
standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair 
value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather 
provides guidance on how to measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitted. The 
Group is currently assessing the impact that this standard will have on the financial position and performance. 
This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities. On 16 December 2011 the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. Amendments introduce disclosure 
requirements that are intended to help investors and other financial statement users to better assess the 
effect or potential effect of offsetting arrangements on a company’s financial position. New disclosure 
requirements also improve transparency in the reporting of how companies mitigate credit risk, including 
disclosure of related collateral pledged or received. Companies and other entities are required to apply the 
amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within 
those annual periods. The required disclosures should be provided retrospectively. 
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5   New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)  
 
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities. On 16 December 2011 the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32 Financial statements: 
presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The amendments address inconsistencies 
in current practice when applying the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and 
clarify the meaning of ―currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off‖ and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and are required to be applied retrospectively. 
 

6 Balances and Transactions with Related Parties  
 
Parties are generally considered to be related if they are under common control or if one party has the ability 
to control the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint control over the other party in making 
financial and operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is 
focused on the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form. All related party transactions 
were made at an arm’s length on normal commercial terms and conditions. There have been no other 
transactions between the Group and its related parties during the reporting or in comparative periods.  
 
The Group’s ultimate controlling party is the Government of the Russian Federation. Hence, all parties related 
to the Government of the Russian Federation are also related parties of the Group.  
 
In the normal course of business, the Group enters into multiple transactions with state-related entities, such 
as placing cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits, paying taxes, purchasing services from utilities and 
other similar payments. However, not all such transactions have a significant impact on the financial 
statements of the Group. Management presents hereunder only the balances and transactions with entities in 
which the government has control, joint control or significant influence, which relate to the core operating 
activities of the Group. The tables below present individually significant transactions with government-related 
entities and the individually insignificant transactions with regard to which it was practicable to identify and 
report them.  
 
In addition to the information in the note below, related party commitments are disclosed in Note 22, and 
income taxes, in Note 21.  
 
Balances with related parties at the end of the respective reporting period were as follows: 
 
 
 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

State- 
owned 

entities 

Associates 
and joint 
ventures  

State- 
owned 

entities 

Associates 
and joint 
ventures 

Assets      
Other receivables 3,342 111  2,307 - 
Other prepayments 1 -  12 - 
Prepayment for shares in project companies - -  - 136 
Investments in associate - 1,528  - 1,528 
Equity instruments at fair value - 27,538  - 9,146 
Equity investments with embedded options at fair value - 36,528  - 27,976 
Loans receivable at fair value (contractual interest rate: 
8% – 16% p.a.) - 32,649  - 16,936 
Bank deposits – short term (contractual interest rate: 
1.9% - 9.96% p.a.) 43,268 -  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 542 -  26,180 - 
      
Liabilities and commitments      
Borrowings (contractual interest rate:  
8.67% - 9.36% p.a.) 29,480 -  4,887 - 
Other payables and accrued expenses 5 23  31 - 
Capital commitments  5,134 29,801  7,957 14,883 
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6    Balances and Transactions with Related Parties (continued) 
 
The income and expense items with related parties were as follows: 
 

 

Key management personnel include the Board of Directors (2011: 11 members, 2010: the Supervisory Board, 
15 members) and the Management Board (2011: 9 members, 2010: 9 members). The remuneration of the 
key management personnel of the Company comprises salaries and short-term bonuses amounting to RR 
111 million (2010: RR 173 million).  
 
Short-term bonuses fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which management 
rendered the related services. Short-term bonus accrued liabilities as at 31 December 2011 amounted to RR 
5 million (31 December 2010: RR 36 million).  

7 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were as follows: 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 
 

Building 
Computer and 

office equipment Other 
Construction  

in progress Total 

Cost as at 1 January 2010  - 636 69 25 730 
Accumulated depreciation   - (113) (28) - (141) 
Carrying amount  
as at 1 January 2010  - 523 41 25 589 
       
Additions  3,134 1,374 - 3 4,511 
Transfer  25 3 - (28) - 
Disposals at cost  - (33) - - (33) 
Depreciation charge   (26) (344) (32) - (402) 
Depreciation on disposal  - 25 - - 25 
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2010 3,133 1,548 9 - 4,690 
      
Cost as at 31 December 2010 3,159 1,980 69 - 5,208 
Accumulated depreciation   (26) (432) (60) - (518) 
Carrying amount  
as at 31 December 2010 3,133 1,548 9 - 4,690 
      
Additions  - 275 2 18 295 
Disposals at cost  - (75) (57) - (132) 
Depreciation charge   (105) (566) (1) - (672) 
Depreciation on disposal  - 72 50 - 122 
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2011 3,028 1,254 3 18 4,303 
      
Cost as at 31 December 2011 3,159 2,180 14 18 5,371 
Accumulated depreciation   (131) (926) (11) - (1,068) 
Carrying amount  
as at 31 December 2011 3,028 1,254 3 18 4,303 

 

 
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

State- 
owned 

entities 

Associates 
and joint 
ventures 

Other 
related 
parties 

State- 
owned 

entities 

Associates 
and joint 
ventures 

Other  
related 
parties 

Income       
Interest income  392 - - 890 - - 
       
Expenses       
Information, consulting and other  
professional services (26) (21) (146) (461) - (146) 
Sponsorship (1) - - (56) - - 
Educational grants  - - - (4) - - 
       
Finance costs (1,177) - - (41) - - 
       
Net gains on financial assets  
at fair value through profit or loss - 9,858 - - 6,573 - 
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8 Intangible Assets 
 

Movements in the carrying amount of intangible assets were as follows: 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

 
Software 
licences 

Intellectual 
property 

rights Trademarks Other Total 

Cost as at 1 January 2010  85 - 7 18 110 
Accumulated depreciation   (15) - - - (15) 
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2010  70 - 7 18 95 
       
Additions  123 66 1 25 215 
Amortisation charge   (37) (3) (1) (4) (45) 
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2010 156 63 7 39 265 
      
Cost as at 31 December 2010  208 66 8 43 325 
Accumulated amortisation   (52) (3) (1) (4) (60) 
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2010 156 63 7 39 265 
      
Additions  58 300 - 1 359 
Disposals  (91) - - (10) (101) 
Amortisation charge   (76) (4) - (10) (90) 
Amortisation disposal  56 - - 2 58 
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2011 103 359 7 22 491 
      
Cost as at 31 December 2011  175 366 8 34 583 
Accumulated amortisation   (72) (7) (1) (12) (92) 
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2011 103 359 7 22 491 

 
9 Investment in Associate 
 
In December 2010, the Company acquired 48.99% of ordinary shares of CJSC Innovative Technopark Idea 
(―Technopark‖) incorporated in the Russian Federation for RR 1,528 million. Technopark provides a full range 
of services to small-scale businesses which are developing business, such as day-to-day management for 
start-ups, administrative support and project financing.  
 
In 2011, the Company sold part of its share in the equity of Technopark for RR 800 thousand and its 
ownership interest was reduced it to 46.2%.  
  
As at 31 December 2011 and 2010 and for the years then ended, the summarised financial information of 
Technopark, including total assets, liabilities, revenues and profit or loss, was as follows: 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles 2011 2010 

Total assets 3,678 3,384 
Total liabilities (371) (280) 
Revenue 206 170 
Profit 17 (37) 

 
10 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
 

RUSNANO Group uses the venture capital organisations’ exemption from applying the equity method of 
accounting to its associates and joint ventures. Such investments, including related loans to the project 
companies, are designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at inception as management 
evaluates such assets on a fair value basis. 
 
The Company commenced its investment activities in 2009. None of the Group’s investee shares are traded 
in the active market. Management looks at financial models of each underlying investment project to 
determine the fair value of individual investment. If embedded derivatives exist in respect of the investment 
(put or call option), management considers the impact of the conditions attached to the investment agreement 
and the financial position of the related counterparties when determining the fair value. 
 
Management considers that the best evidence of the fair value of the investments designed at fair value 
through profit or loss, which were financed close to the reporting date, is the transaction price, as there were 
no changes in the factors evidenced since the transaction date which could affect the fair value. 
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10    Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 

Equity financial instruments of the Group at fair value through profit or loss are represented by the equity 
investments in the project companies without embedded options and shares in the investment funds 
(Note 10.1, Note 10.4). 
 
Debt financial instruments of the Group at fair value through profit or loss are represented by the loans and by 
equity investments with embedded options (Note 10.2). Loan collateral is disclosed in Note 24. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss also comprise financial assets held for trading that are 
represented by quoted debt securities including bonds with a fixed coupon the majority of which are bonds 
issued by Russian companies quoted in the open market (Note 10.5). The Group periodically invests 
temporary available cash in such investments for the purpose of selling and/or repurchasing them shortly.  
 
The structure of the Group’s investments at fair value through profit or loss is detailed below: 
 

   

31 December 2011 
 

31 December 2010 

In millions of  
Russian Roubles    Note Cost Fair value 

 

Cost Fair value 

     

 

  
Equity instruments 10.1 29,014 31,221 

 
8,800 9,146 

Equity investments with 
embedded options 10.2 30,786 36,528 

 
23,281 27,976 

Total equity instruments  
at fair value through profit or loss 59,800 67,749 

 
32,081 37,122 

   

 

  Non-current portion of 
loans receivable  - 23,032 

 
- 20,548 

Current portion of loans 
receivable   - 9,739 

 
- 703 

Total loans to the project 
companies 10.3 29,700 32,771 

 

24,310 21,251 

     

 

  Financial assets held for 
trading 

 
10.5 3,004 2,783 

 

- - 

     

 

  
Total investments     92,504 103,303 

 
56,391  58,373 

 

Management believes that the financial models used for initial fair value assessment are reliable, and they 
were updated for the facts and circumstances known as at 31 December 2011. 

If the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price, there may be a difference 
between the fair value at initial recognition and the amount that would be determined at that date using the 
valuation technique. The aggregate difference yet to be recognised in profit or loss is the following: 

In millions of  
Russian Roubles     

31 December 
2010 

Day 1 gains 
deferred at initial 

recognition 
31 December 

2011 

      Equity financial instruments 
 

1,494 (371) 1,123 

      Equity financial instruments with embedded options 1,522 509 2,031 

      
Total     3,016  138 3,154 
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10    Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 

10.1 Equity instruments and related loans to the project companies 

The equity instruments and related loans to the project companies at fair value through profit or loss are 
detailed below: 
 

   31 December 2011    31 December 2010  

In millions of  
Russian Roubles 

% of 
owner-

ship 

 
Equity instruments Loans 

  

% of 
owner-

ship 

 
Equity 

instruments Loans 

 Cost       
Fair 

value Cost 
Fair 

value 
  

 Cost 
Fair 

value Cost 
Fair 

value 

               
Plastic Logic 
Holding PLC 43.89  7,126 7,331 - -  

 
28.85  4,647 4,647 - - 

               
Sherigo Resources 
Limited 78.95  3,000 3,000 4,500 5,437  

 
-  - - - - 

               
CROCUS Group -  2,568 2,568 - -   -  - - - - 

               
Novomet –Perm  
CJSC 20.13  2,461 2,461 - -  

 
-  - - - - 

               
Fiber-
Optic Systems 
CJSC 47.73  1,295 1,295 - -  

 

-  - - - - 
               
Monocristal 
Holdings N.V. 4.98  1,177 394 - -  

 
-  - - - - 

               
Joule Global 
Holdings B.V. 6.04  1,080 1,080 - -  

 
-  - - - - 

               
SinBio LLC 41.37  900 900 - -   -  - - - - 
               
Optogan CJSC 25.00  830 873 1,453 1,418   17.00  323 398 1,453 1,093 
               
ITN Nanovation AG 28.66  640 640 - -   -  - - - - 

               
Nesscap Energy 
Inc. 20.72  606 606 - -  

 
-  - - - - 

               
Virial LLC 49.90  501 604 - -   42.91  501 501 38 38 
               
New Instrumental  
Solutions CJSC 49.98  500 397 - -  

 
49.98  500 651 - - 

               
SiTime Corporation 15.53  413 413 - -   -  - - - - 
               
Other  5,917 8,659 969 965   -  2,829 2,949 73 58 
              

Total equity instruments 
and related loans  29,014 31,221 6,922 7,820  

 
  8,800 9,146 1,564 1,189 
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10    Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 

10.2 Equity investments with embedded options and related loans to the project companies 

 
  31 December 2011 

  

31 December 2010  

In millions of  
Russian Roubles 

 

Equity  
investments with 
embedded option Loans  

 Equity 
investments with 
embedded option Loans 

% of 
owner-

ship  Cost 
Fair 

value Cost 
Fair 

value  

% of 
owner-

ship  Cost 
Fair 

value Cost 
Fair 

value 

IPG IRE-Polis LLC 22.50  1,333 1,384 - -  12.50  768 768 - - 

Galileo  
Nanotech CJSC 48.80  923 1,129 158 171  48.80  923 997 85 85 

Plakart CJSC 49.00  1,220 1,638 - -  49.00  600 600 - - 

Prepreg – SKM 
CJSC 48.00  192 230 3,060 2,440  48.00  192 222 3,060 1,762 

Sitroniks – Nano 
LLC 49.97  6,480 8,361 1,428 1,473  49.97  6,480 8,278 - - 

Termointech LLC 49.90  600 646 - -  -  - - - - 

Liotech LLC 50.00  2,081 3,132 3,765 4,565  49.99  2,081 2,777 3,380 3,247 

Danaflex-nano 
LLC 49.00  1,200 1,251 - -  49.00  1,135 1,172 - - 

Cutting Edge 
Technologies LLC 48.28  2,600 2,600 - -  -  - - - - 

Uralplastic-N 
CJSC 48.00  576 1,038 420 419  48.00  576 657 50 45 

Hevel LLC 49.00  3,705 3,862 9,820 11,761  49.00  3,705 5,024 9,820 9,151 

Nanolek Holding 
Limited 39.24  627 627 - -  -  - - - - 

Trekpor  
Technology CJSC 47.92  1,290 1,324 - -  47.92  1,290 1,241 - - 

NTpharma LLC 34.00  1,149 1,149 - -  -  - - - - 

Germanium and 
Applications LLC 31.75  590 726 - -  31.75  590 590 - - 

TMK-Inoks LLC 49.00  1,299 1,340 - -  46.99  1,000 1,000 - - 

Metaclay CJSC 49.00  441 985 660 660  49.00  441 621 509 387 

Rosana LLC 48.98  1,117 1,061 - -  48.98  1,117 1,117 - - 

Usolye – Sibirsky 
Silicon LLC -  - - - -  -  - - 4,500 4,315 

             

Other project companies  3,363 4,045 3,467 3,462    2,383 2,912 1,342 1,070 

             

Total  equity investments 
with embedded option  and 
related loans  30,786 36,528 22,778 24,951    23,281 27,976 22,746 20,062 
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10    Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 

10.2  Equity investments with embedded options and related loans to the project companies 
(continued) 

 
The equity investments with embedded options are listed from the highest to the lowest credit quality as 
determined by the Group’s management in the table above. The credit quality of the loans issued to the 
project companies which are at the development phase of production is estimated as low, and all these 
loans are collaterised (see Note 24). All debt instruments are neither past due nor impaired at the end of the 
reporting period. 
 

10.3  Loans receivable 
 
As part of its operating activity, the Group provides loan financing to its investees. Loans receivable are 
secured by collateral (pledged equipment, shares and intangible assets – see Note 24) and bear interest 
ranging from 8% to 16% p.a. The loans were discounted to fair value using market rates appropriate for 
each loan that are within the range of 12 - 16% p.a. (2010: 20% p.a.) (Note 3).  
 
Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC 

In April 2009 the Company issued a loan to Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC, a subsidiary of Sherigo 
Resources Limited,  to finance the production of polysilicon in Usolie - Sibirskoye, in the Irkutsk region, 
Russia. As of 31 December 2009, due to the market downturn, the fair value of the loan decreased and a 
respective loss was recognised. 

The Company also issued a financial guarantee in favour of other creditors of Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC 
for RR 3,000 million (Note 22). Fees for the guarantee are billed and the related income is accrued annually. 

In 2010 Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC commenced pilot production which validated the likely success of the 
project. Furthermore, in 2010, silicon prices started to increase, reducing the risks that the project company 
may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to meet its obligations. As a result, management 
assessed the expected cash flows of the investee as at 31 December 2010 and recorded an increase in the 
fair value of this loan of RR 1,406 million. In addition, on 23 December 2011 the Framework Agreement (the 
Agreement), that determined the debt restructuring and additional financing of Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC,  
was signed by the Company, Sberbank, Eurasian Development Bank, Sberbank Capital LLC and Sherigo 
Resources Limited.  

In accordance with the Agreement, in 2011 the Company invested RR 3,000 million in the equity of Sherigo 
Resources Limited, and in 2012 will additionally contribute into equity of Sherigo Resources Limited 
financing a further RR 6,400 million, and the Company’s share in the equity of Sherigo Resources Limited 
will retain at more than 50%. The amounts raised by Sherigo Resources Limited under the Agreement 
should be used for repaying the debt of Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC and financing the activities of the 
SHERIGO Group (Note 28).  
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10    Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 

10.4 Shares in investment funds 

Shares in investment funds at fair value through profit or loss presented within equity instruments comprise 
investments in closed-end investment funds of high risk (venture) investments and are detailed below: 
 

In millions of  
Russian Roubles 

 

 

31 December 2011 

 

31 December 2010 

Country of 
registration 

% of 
ownership Cost 

Fair 
value 

 
Cost 

Fair 
value 

Celtic Pharma Holdings II LP  Guernsey 49.80 1,101 3,574  737 729 

        

NANOMET 
Russian 

Federation 50.00 375 367  375 375 
        
Burill Capital Fund IV LP USA 50.00 266 266  - - 
        
Fund of nanotechnologies and 
innovations DFJ-VTB Capital 
Aurora 

Russian 
Federation 62.50 75 76  - - 

        

Skolkovo-Nanotech  
Russian 

Federation 50.00 150 68  150 109 
        

Advanced technologies  
Russian 

Federation 49.00 49 51  49 49 
       

Total shares in investment funds  2,016 4,402  1,311 1,262 

 
 

10.5 Financial assets held for trading 
 

Financial assets held for trading are represented by quoted debt securities, including bonds with a fixed 
coupon, the majority of which are bonds issued by Russian companies quoted in the open market. The fair 
value of quoted debt securities is determined by reference to published price quotations in the active 
market. 
 
The coupon accrued on debt securities was classified as Interest income (Note 17) in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.  
 
The credit quality of investments held for trading at fair value may be summarised with regard to Moody’s / 
Standard & Poor’s ratings as follows as at 31 December 2011: 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles 31 December 2011 
Neither past due nor impaired  
- A3* rated 319 
- B1* rated 128 
- Ba1 to Ba3* rated  1,529 
- Baa1 to Baa3* rated 649 
- BBB** rated 93 
- Not rated 65 
Total financial assets held for trading 2,783 

 
* - Moody's;  
** - Standard & Poor’s. 
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11 Other Receivables and Prepayments 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Reimbursable expenses 3,040 2,185 
Interest accrued on cash at bank and bank deposits 607 122 
Other receivables 354 313 
Total financial assets within other receivables and prepayments 4,001 2,620 

Other prepayments 422 223 
Total other receivables and prepayments 4,423 2,843 

Less non-current portion  (16) (136) 
Total other receivables and prepayments – current portion 4,407 2,707 

 

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the carrying value of each class of short-term financial assets with 
regard to other receivables and prepayments approximates their fair values. No other receivables and 
prepayments are past due or are impaired. 
 
Reimbursable expenses comprise a receivable due from the Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation. 
The Company contributed financial resources to a project company, XFEL, established in Hamburg 
(Germany) of RR 3,040 million in 2011 (2010: RR 2,185 million). In 2012 the Ministry of Finance of the 
Russian Federation will reimburse the expenditures incurred by the Company in 2011 in relation to this 
project (Note 22).  
 
 
12 Bank Deposits 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

 
Rating  
(Fitch's / 
Moody's) Currency 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Neither past due nor impaired     
Sberbank BBB * RR 20,116 - 
VTB-Bank BBB * RR 20,000 - 
NOMOS-Bank BB * RR 10,020 10 
Promsvyazbank BB- * RR 7,000 2,000 
VTB-Bank BBB * USD 2,898 - 
Promsvyazbank BB- * EUR 1,750 - 
Promsvyazbank BB- * USD 1,030 - 
MDM Bank BB * RR 169 310 
Bank of Saint Petersburg Ba3 ** RR - 10,000 
Credit Swuisse (Luxemburg) S.A. A * EUR - 1,694 
Alfa – Bank BB+ * RR - 1,500 
Alfa – Bank BB+ * EUR - 101 
Other  RR 345 147 
Total bank deposits   63,328 15,762 

 
* - Fitch's; 
** - Moody's. 

 
As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the carrying value of bank deposits approximates their fair value. 
Interest receivable on bank deposits presented with regard to other receivables and prepayments amounted to 
RR 607 million as at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: RR 122 million). 
 
Bank deposits bear an average effective interest rate of 8.57% p.a. (2010: 6.47% p.a.). Their original maturities 
were less than 12 months (2010: less than 4 months). 
 
13 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Cash at bank payable on demand  3,391 30,188 
Cash in transit - 3,657 
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,391 33,845 

 
Cash in transit is comprised of an equity contribution of RR 3,657 million that was transferred by the Company 
to its subsidiary Fonds Rusnano Capital S.A. in December 2010 that was in transit as at 31 December 2010. 
In January 2011, this contribution was received by Fonds Rusnano Capital S.A. 
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13    Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 
 
The credit quality of the banks in which the Group has cash and cash equivalents may be summarised with 
regard to Fitch’s / Moody’s ratings as follows: 
 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 
Neither past due nor impaired   
- BBB- to BBB+ * / Aaa to A ** rated 530 176 
- BB- to BB+ * / Baa ** rated 2,231 29,461 
- B- to B+ * / Ba, B ** rated 2 40 
- Unrated 628 4,168 
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,391 33,845 

 
* - Fitch's;  
** - Moody's. 
 

14 Equity 
 

Capital contribution 
 

The Russian Corporation of Nanotechnologies was formed under Federal law No. 139-FZ ―On Russian 
Corporation of Nanotechnologies‖. The Russian Federation contributed special purpose financing amounting 
to RR 130,000 million to the Corporation. Following a resolution of the Government of the Russian Federation, 
during 2009-2011 the Corporation returned RR 66,400 million to the State, received RR 1,000 million from the 
State, and distributed RR 10,956 million to the Fund for the Infrastructure and Educational Programs, 
respectively.  
 
The Corporation was reorganized into OJSC RUSNANO on 11 March 2011 by a change in legal form, 
hence, the capital contribution balance in the amount of RR 53,644 million was transformed into share 
capital of RR 6,500 million and into retained earnings of RR 47,144 million. OJSC RUSNANO assumed all 
rights and responsibilities of the Russian Corporation under the principle of universal succession after the 
completion of reorganization (Note 1). 
 
In accordance with Russian legislation, distributions may only be declared to the shareholders of the 
Company from net profit for the year as reported in the Company's Russian statutory financial statements. 
For the period from 11 March to 31 December 2011, the statutory loss for the Company as reported in its 
published annual statutory reporting forms was RR 2,989 million, and the closing balance of the accumulated 
and undistributed profit, including the current year net statutory loss, totalled RR 53,015 million.  
 
Share capital 
 
Share capital of the Company was formed as a result of a reorganization and as at 11 March 2011 totalled 
RR 6,500 million (Note 1). The Government of the Russian Federation became the sole owner of 100% of 
the Company’s shares. 
 
In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company issued an additional 47,241,700,000 ordinary shares at par value 
of 1 Russian Rouble. All issued shares are authorized and fully paid at par value as of 31 December 2011.  
 
As at 31 December 2011, the share capital of the Company comprises 53,741,700,000 ordinary shares of RR 
1 each. 
 
Currency translation reserve 
 
Foreign currency translation differences during 2011 totalled RR 990 million (2010: RR 41 million). The 
currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, and totalled RR 1,031 million as at 31 December 2011 
(RR 41 million as at 31 December 2010). 
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15 Borrowings 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles Currency 

Effective 
annual 

interest rate Due 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Bonds (Series 01-03) RR 8.9% 2017 32,971 32,967 

Sberbank RR 8.67- 9.36% 2017- 2019 29,480 4,887 

Bank of Saint Petersburg RR 

Refinancing  
rate of the 

Russian 
Central Bank 

+1.5% 2015 5,000 5,000 

Total long-term borrowings 
  

67,451 42,854 

 

The effective interest rate is the market interest rate applicable to the loan at the date of origin for fixed rate 
loans and the current market rate for floating rate loans. The carrying value of borrowings approximates their 
fair values. 
 
On 29 December 2010, the Group issued certified interest-bearing non-convertible bearer coupon bonds with 
nominal value of RR 33,000 million. The interest was defined at the time of the issue and is fixed until maturity. 
The carrying value of bonds includes transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of bonds in the 
amount of RR 29 million (2010: RR 33 million).  
 
The carrying value of the loans from Sberbank includes transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
issue of the loans in the amount of RR 120 million (2010: RR 113 million). 
 
The Group borrowings in respect of bondholders and creditors are secured by the guarantees issued by the 
Government of the Russian Federation. 
 

16 Other Payables and Accrued Expenses 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles  31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Payables to suppliers  168 182 
Accrued liabilities and other creditors  62 58 
Interest payable  383 57 
Total financial liabilities within other payables and accrued expenses 613 297 

Accrued employee benefit costs  252 459 
Income tax payable  6 4 
Other taxes payable  57 55 
Total other payables and accrued expenses  928 815 

 

The carrying values of each class of financial liabilities within other payables and accrued expenses 
approximates their fair values. 
 

17 Interest Income 
 

Interest income on financial assets carried at amortised cost consists of the following: 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles  
For the year ended  
31 December 2011 

For the year ended  
31 December 2010 

Interest income on short-term banks deposit  1,667 2,006 
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents   117 137 
Interest income on quoted debt securities  91 - 
Total interest income  1,875 2,143 

 
Interest income on debt financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss and included in 
the revaluation gain or loss in profit or loss amounted to RR 3,092 million (2010: RR 2,346 million). 
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18 Operating Expenses 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles Note 
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Payroll expense  2,258 2,277 
Depreciation 7 672 402 
Consulting services  439 1,177 
Office maintenance  321 197 
Project expertise  308 173 
Equipment support and telecommunication  303 230 
Car rent  215 231 
Security  195 142 
Legal services  165 245 
Business trips and entertainment  133 123 
Amortisation 8 90 45 
Workshop and exhibition expenses  78 273 
Advertising expenses  28 34 
Charity and sponsorship  19 163 
Reversal of provision for financial guarantees 22 - (1,080) 
Other  330 488 
Total operating expenses   5,554 5,120 

 
During the reporting period, the Group accrued contributions of RR 146 million due to a non-state pension 
fund, a related party of the Group, for its employees (2010: RR 146 million). Such costs are presented within 
payroll expense. In addition, payroll expense includes contributions to state pension funds on behalf of 
employees in 2011 of RR 130 million (2010: RR 92 million).  
 

19 Net Gains on Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss  
 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles  
For the year ended  
31 December 2011 

For the year ended  
31 December 2010 

Change in fair value of equity instruments  1,596 108 

Change in fair value of equity investments with embedded options  1,041 4,002 

Change in fair value of loans to the project companies  6,451 4,689 

Change in fair value of financial assets held for trading  (211) - 
Net gains on financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss  8,877 8,799 

 

In 2011, there were no changes in the fair value of debt instruments attributable to the change in the credit 
risk (2010: the increase amounted to RR 1,406 million). The remaining change in the fair value is 
attributable to other market risk factors. Gains from the change in the market interest  rate used as discount 
rate in determinig the fair value of loans receivable held by the Group from 20% p.a. in 2010 to the range of 
12% to 16% p.a. in 2011 amounted to RR 2,362 million (2010: RR 727 million). 
 

20 Finance Costs 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Interest expenses 4,624 178 

Foreign exchange translation differences  58 106 

Total finance costs 4,682 284 

 

21 Income Taxes  
 
Income tax expense recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income comprises the 
following:  
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Current income tax  198 925 
Deferred tax 25 1,006 
Income tax expense for the year 223 1,931 
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21   Income Taxes (continued) 

The income tax rate applicable to the majority of the Group’s 2011 income is 20% (2010: 20%).  
Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below: 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Profit before tax 1,230 5,901 

   
Theoretical tax charge at the statutory rate of  20% 246 1,181 
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable  
for taxation purposes:   

- Non-deductible reversal of provision for loan issued to Usolie-
Sibirsky Silicon LLC (Note 10) - (496) 
- Non-deductible expenses financed from capital contribution of 
the Russian Federation - 1,221 
- Net effect on other non-taxable income and non-deductible 
expenses (23) 25 

Income tax expense for the year 223 1,931 

 
Before its reorganisation (Note 1), the Corporation was a non-profit organisation, and the major operating 
expenses were financed from the capital contribution provided by the Government of the Russian 
Federation (Note 14) and were not deductible for taxation purposes. Since the time of completion of its 
reorganization into OJSC RUSNANO, all expenses give rise to temporary differences and the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Differences between the IFRS and taxation regulations in Russia give rise to temporary differences between 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.  

The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is detailed below and is recorded at the rate 
of 20% (2010: 20%). 
 
The tax effect of the movements in the temporary differences for the year ended 31 December 2011 are: 

In millions of Russian Roubles  31 December 2010 
(Charged)/credited  

to profit or loss 
 

31 December 2011 
Tax effect of deductible/ 
(taxable) temporary differences   

 
 

Fair value adjustments to loans receivable 1,162 (683)  479 
Fair value adjustments to investments (988) (114)  (1,102) 
Other (28) 125  97 
Tax loss carried  forward - 647  647 
Recognized deferred tax asset 146 (25)  121 

 
The Company expects carried forward tax loss to be used to offset taxable profits in the subsequent 
periods, but not earlier than 2015. 
 
The tax effect of the movements in relation to the temporary differences for the year ended 31 December 
2010 are the following: 
 

 
  

In millions of Russian Roubles  31 December 2009 
(Charged)/credited  

to profit or loss 31 December 2010 
Tax effect of deductible/ 
(taxable) temporary differences    
Fair value adjustments to loans receivable 1,175 (13) 1,162 
Fair value adjustments to investments - (988) (988) 
Other (23) (5) (28) 
Recognized deferred tax asset 1,152 (1,006) 146 
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22 Contingencies and Commitments 
 
Legal proceedings. From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group may 
be received. On the basis of its own estimates and both internal and external professional advice, 
management believes that no material losses will be incurred in respect of claims; accordingly, no 
provisions have been made in these financial statements.  
 
Taxation. The existing Russian tax, currency and customs legislation allows for various interpretations 
and is subject to frequent changes. The interpretation by the Company’s management of the legislation in 
place when applicable to the Company's transactions and activities may be challenged by the appropriate 
regional or federal authorities. Recent events in the Russian Federation indicate that the tax authorities 
may take a tougher stance with regard to the interpretation of legislation and a review of tax returns. 
Consequently, tax authorities may challenge transactions and the accounting methods that they had 
never challenged before. As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and fines may be accrued. It is 
not possible to determine the amounts of constructive claims or evaluate the probability of their negative 
outcome. Tax audits may cover a period of three calendar years immediately preceding the audited year. 
Under certain circumstances, the tax authorities may review earlier accounting periods. 
 
According to the Group’s management, as at 31 December 2011 they had properly interpreted the 
respective legislation, and the probability that the Company will retain its positions with regard to tax and 
currency legislation is assessed as high. 
 
Capital commitments for further investment. As at 31 December 2011, the Group has contractual 
commitments to invest in the share capital of project companies totaling RR 32,997 million 
(31 December 2010: RR 9,573 million) and debt financing commitments totaling RR 5,960 million 
(31 December 2010: RR 7,181 million). 

In 2009, the Company contractually committed to participate in the European X-ray laser project at the 
request of the Government of the Russian Federation. Thirteen European countries are also participating in 
this project. As at 31 December 2011, the Company is obliged to contribute financing to the project 
company XFEL established in Hamburg (Germany) of RR 5,134 million (or Euro 123 million) (2010: 
RR 7,957 million or Euro 197 million). During the reporting period, the Company contributed 
RR 3,042 million to XFEL (2010: RR 2,185 million). The Government of the Russian Federation will 
reimburse the expenditures incurred by the Company concerning this project.  

The Group believes that future net income, financial assets including bank deposits, available funding from 
banks and other external sources will be sufficient to cover these commitments. 

As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, the Group has no other contractual capital expenditure commitments. 

Financial guarantees. Guarantees are irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the 
event that another party cannot meet its obligations when they fall due under the contractual terms.  

The Group has guaranteed the following obligations: 

In millions of 
 Russian Roubles 

 
  

Beneficiary 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Liotech LLC Sberbank 3,500 3,500 
Usolye – Sibirsky Silicon LLC Sberbank 3,000 3,000  
Plastic Lodgic  CJSC  Bank of Saint Petersburg 1,561 - 
Galileo Nanotech CJSC BINBANK OJSC 142 142 

Total financial guarantees issued 8,203 6,642 

 
As at 31 December 2009, the Group recorded a provision of RR 1,080 million in favour of the banks 
providing loans to Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC. In 2010 the management reassessed the relative 
probability of future payment under the guarantees issued and reversed the whole provision in the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010. As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s management 
took action aimed at debt restructuring (Note 10). 
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23 Principal Subsidiaries 
 

During 2011 and 2010 the Company acquired and formed the subsidiaries in line with the expansion of the 
main Group’s activities in the nanoindustry. 

The principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011: 

Name 
 The main 

activities 
Percentage of 

ownership 
Country of 

registration 

RUSNANO Capital AG Formed in June 2010 * 100% Luxembourg 

Fonds Rusnano Capital S.A. Formed in August 2010 * 100% Luxembourg 

Rusnano-Inform OJSC Formed in March 2010 *** 100% Russian Federation 

Metrological center Rusnano OJSC Formed in March 2010 ** 100% Russian Federation 

SIGMA.Innovations LLC Acquired in October 2010 ** 75% Russian Federation 

SIGMA.Novosibirsk LLC Acquired in October 2010 ** 90% Russian Federation 

SIGMA.Tomsk LLC Acquired in October 2010 ** 90% Russian Federation 

Technology Transfer Center LLC Formed in December 2010 ** 74% Russian Federation 

LED Mikrosensor NT LLC Formed in November 2011 **** 51% Russian Federation 

 
* commercialization of nanoindustry development; 
** coordination of innovation activity in the field of nanoindustry; 
*** IT services; 
**** the project company. 

The percentage of voting rights in the equity of the subsidiaries in which the Company holds is the same as 
its percentage of ownership. 

In 2011, the Company invested an additional RR 78 million in the share capital of the Technology Transfer 
Center LLC. The Company’s share in equity of the subsidiary did not change as a result of this transaction. 
The Company recognised the acquisition of net assets attributable to participants in the subsidiaries in the 
amount of RR 25 million in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Information on subsidiaries acquired in 2010 is presented below. The acquisition-date fair value of the total 
purchases consideration and its components are as follows: 

  2010 

In millions of Russian Roubles 
 LLC “Sigma. 

Innovations” 
LLC “Sigma. 
Novosibirsk” 

LLC “Sigma. 
Tomsk” 

Cash consideration paid  324 66 33 

Total purchase consideration   324 66 33 

Details of the assets and liabilities acquired in 2010 are as follows: 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

                               

 Attributed fair value  
 LLC “Sigma. 

Innovations” 
LLC “Sigma. 
Novosibirsk” 

LLC “Sigma. 
Tomsk” 

Cash and cash equivalents   375 73 36 
Property, plant and equipment  2 - - 
Intangible assets  - - - 
Other assets  57 - 1 
Trade and other payables  (2) - - 
Fair value of identifiable net assets of subsidiary  432 73 37 
Less: net assets attributable to participants other than 
OJSC RUSNANO 

 
(108) (7) (4) 

Total purchase consideration   324 66 33 

     
Cash inflow on acquisition:     
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary  375 73 36 
Less: cash paid  (324) (66) (33) 

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents on acquisition  51 7 3 
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24 Financial Risk Management 
 

The Group's risk management relates to financial, operating and legal risks. Financial risks comprise market 
risks (including currency, interest and other price risks), credit risks and liquidity risks. The primary 
objectives of the risk management function are to establish risk limits, and then ensure that exposure to 
risks stays within these limits. The operational and legal risk management functions are intended to ensure 
the proper application of internal policies and procedures to minimise operational and legal risks. The Group 
uses financial instruments to moderate certain risk exposures. 
 

Credit risk. The Group assumes exposure to credit risk which is the risk that one party will cause a financial 
loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Exposure to  credit risk is due to the risk of non-
payment of a debt instrument or the interest due on loans issued to project companies. 

 

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is summarised in the table below. It does not include any 
collateral or other credit risk enhancements, which reduce the Group’s exposure. 
 
In millions of Russian Roubles Note 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 

Equity instruments with embedded options 10 36,528 27,976 
Loans receivable 10 32,771 21,251 
Financial assets held for trading 10 2,783 - 
Financial assets within other receivables and prepayments 11 4,001 2,484 
Bank deposits 12 63,328 15,762 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 3,391 33,845 
Total on-balance sheet exposure  142,802 101,318 

Financial guarantees – amount of guaranteed loans 22 8,203 6,642 
Commitments for equity instruments with embedded options 22 14,983 2,155 
Loan commitments 22 5,960 7,181 
Commitment  to finance XFEL Laser project 22 5,134 7,957 
Total maximum exposure to credit risk   177,082 125,253 

 
Cash and cash equivalents and short term bank deposits are carried at amortised cost, which approximates 
current fair value. OJSC RUSNANO places temporarily available funds with credit institutions selected by 
special criteria specified by the financial policy of OJSC RUSNANO, such as: 

- a credit institution should have a long-term solvency rating of BB- or higher by Fitch Ratings or 
Standard & Poor’s, or Ba3 or higher by Moody’s Investors Service. A corresponding rating should 
be assigned by at least one of the above agencies; 

- the availability of a credit institution’s own funds (equity) in the amount of at least RR 5,000 million 
(determined with regard to the methodology approved by the Central Bank of Russia) as of the 
most recent end of the reporting period. 

 
Management performs regular monitoring of the financial results and ratings of financial institutions where 
temporarily available cash is invested. 
 

OJSC RUSNANO provides financial resources to project companies by means of equity and/or debt 
instruments and by means of issued financial guarantees. Debt instruments are loans receivable and equity 
investments with embedded derivatives, where the risks and rewards of equity ownership were not 
substantially transferred to OJSC RUSNANO.  Generally, OJSC RUSNANO provides financial resources 
only if it has an equity investment in a project company to facilitate influence over implementation of the 
project. It is preferrable to grant the loan in tranches according to approved milestones.   
 
OJSC RUSNANO makes the decision to participate in a project after assessing the borrower’s financial 
position and business plan at the preliminary examination phase for each investment project. As a result, all 
projects are classified by risk groups. Interest rates and the cost of a financial guarantee depend on the risk 
of a project and the security provided. The Group issues loans to high risk project companies only when it 
receives a legal right to high quality loan security.  
 

OJSC RUSNANO accepts pledged liquid property, such as production equipment, shares and intangible 
assets, as loan collateral only if its market value is fully insured and is assessed by an independent 
appraiser approved by OJSC RUSNANO at or above the loan principle amount. Financial guarantees are 
granted after the guarantee’s solvency is analyzed.  
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24   Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Management believes that the risk of default is small and it reflects any credit risk related to write-downs in 
fair value of the recognised investments.  
 
The list of collateral and guarantees received to secure financial assets of the Group is detailed in the table 
below. Collateral and guarantees are not always readily convertible into cash. The Group would get access 
to the debt security only if the conditions attached to the loan are breached by the borrower. 
 

 
In millions of Russian Roubles 

 
Collaterised 

financial asset 
 amount  

 

Guarantor Collateral received Collaterised asset 

Hevel LLC 
Rights to claim under 
supply contract   

12,074 Hevel loan receivable 
Beluna Investments Limited Shares 
R&D Center of Thin Film Movable property 

Thunder Sky Energy Group Limited Shares 9,942 
Liotech LLC loan receivable, 
equity investment in Liotech LLC 

Plastic Lodgic Luxemburg plc Shares 7,165 

Plastic Lodgic Luxemburg plc 
obligations under the 
compensation agreement 

Galileo-Nanotech CJSC Guarantees 

2,827 
Equity investment in Galileo-
Nanotech CJSC  

Compania Gestione Investimenti 
Industriali S.R.L Shares 
 
Danaflex CJSC 

 
Shares 2,181 

Equity investment in Danaflex 
CJSC  

Optogan Tallinskoe CJSC Movable property 

1,779 Optogan CJSC loan receivable 

Optogan CJSC 
Movable property, 
shares 

Lysaro Company Ltd Shares 

Usolye – Sibirsky Silicon LLC 
Movable property, land 
plot mortgage 1,553 

Usolye – Sibirsky Silicon loan 
receivable 

Pinorim Holding Limited Shares 1,267 
Equity investment in Pinorim 
Holding Limited 

Metaklej CJSC 
Movable property and 
other assets 

921 

Metaklej CJSC loan receivable, 
equity investment in Metaklej 
CJSC Licz AMT Limited Shares 

NTpharma LLC Other assets 769 NTpharma LLC loan receivable 

NikoMag CJSC Movable property 688 
Equity investment in NikoMag 
CJSC 

KvarzVIC LLC Shares 633 
Equity investment in KvarzVIC 
LLC 

Microbor holding Ltd  Shares 

617 

Microbor Nanotech CJSC loan 
receivable, equity investments in 
Microbor Nanotech CJSC Microbor Nanotech CJSC Shares 

Other 
Shares, movable 
property 6,751 

Other loans receivable, other 
equity investments 

 
A credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of a loss as a result of 
another party to a financial instrument failing to fulfil its obligations in accordance with the contractual terms. 
The Group applies the same credit policy as for the off-balance sheet financial instruments by using the 
existing procedures for credit approvals, and credit limit setting and monitoring. Management records a 
provision for the financial guarantees issued when an outflow of economic benefits is assessed as more 
likely than not and the amount of the provision can be reliably estimated.  
 
Credit risk concentration. The Group has cash and cash equivalents at 18 banks (2010: 16 banks) and 
bank deposits at 10 banks (2010: 11 banks). The financial instruments of the Group are placed in 77 project 
companies and 6 investment funds (2010: 43 project companies and 4 investment funds). Accordingly, the 
Group is exposed to a concentration of credit risk. As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, the 
Group does not have any overdue or impaired financial assets. 
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24   Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Market risk. RUSNANO Group assumes exposure to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions in 
the interest rate, currency and equity investments, all of which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements. Management sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted. However, the use of this 
approach does not prevent losses outside the limits in the event of more significant market movements. 

 

Sensitivity to market risks described below is based on a change in one factor, while other factors remain 
unchanged. In practice, this is unlikely and changes in factors can be interdependent, e.g., simultaneous 
changes in the interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
 

Currency risk. The Group entities holds assets denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency. The Group exposure to currency risk is insignificant and, consequently, the risk is not managed. 

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to the foreign currency exchange rate risk at the end 
of the reporting period: 

 

31 December 2011  31 December 2010  

 In millions 
of Russian 
Roubles 

Euro-
denominated 

USD-
denominated 

CHF-
denominated 

 
Euro-

denominated 
USD-

denominated 
CHF-

denominated 

Assets 4,712 4,603 3  5,654 6 38 

Liabilities (33) - (9)  - - - 

Net 
exposure 4,679 4,603 (6) 

 

5,654 6 38 

 

The following table presents sensitivities of profit and loss and equity to reasonably possible changes in 
the exchange rates applied at the end of the reporting period relative to the functional currency of the 
respective Group entities, with all other variables being constant: 

 
31 December 2011  31 December 2010 

In millions of  
Russian Roubles 

Reasonably 
possible 

change in 
exchange 
rates (%) 

Impact on profit  
and equity 

 Reasonably 
possible 

change in 
exchange 
rates (%) 

Impact on profit  
and equity 

Increase (Decrease) 

 

Increase (Decrease) 

Euro 12 561 (561)  10 565 (565) 

USD 12 552 (552)  10 1 (1) 

CHF 12 (1) 1  10 4 (4) 

Total for assets denominated in 
foreign currencies 1,112 (1,112) 

 
 570 (570) 

 
 
Interest rate risk. The Group assumes exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of the 
market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The majority of the Group’s financial assets 
and liabilities are at fixed interest rates. The Group currently does not have formal objective policies and 
procedures for managing the interest risk, as it is considered to be secondary to the credit risk and business 
risks in the field of nanotechnology.  
 
The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the financial assets and 
liabilities, categorised by the earlier contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Management believes that debt 
instruments with embedded derivatives are subject to the interest rate risk rather than the pricing risk. 
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24   Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

Demand 
and less 

than 
1 month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 months 

More than 
1 year 

More than 
5 years Total 

31 December 2011       
Equity instruments with embedded 
options - - - 30,772 5,756 36,528 
Loans receivable * 1 4,691 419 20,437 4,152 29,700 
Financial assets held for trading - 2,783 - - - 2,783 
Bank deposits 144 22,847 40,337 - - 63,328 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,391 - - - - 3,391 
Borrowings (590) (2,328) (3,056) (47,367) (44,973) (98,314) 
Net interest sensitivity gap at  
31 December 2011 2,946 27,993 37,700 3,842 (35,065) 37,416 

31 December 2010       
Equity instruments with embedded 
options - - - 23,400 4,576 27,976 
Loans receivable * 2 50 147 17,834 6,277 24,310 
Bank deposits - 15,762 - - - 15,762 
Cash and cash equivalents 33,845 - - - - 33,845 
Borrowings - - - (5,000) (37,854) (42,854) 
Net interest sensitivity gap at  
31 December 2010 33,847 15,812 147 36,234 (27,001) 59,039 

* Loans receivable value disclosed is the nominal value of the debt. 

 
The Group is exposed to the interest rate risk through loans, cash at a bank, bank deposits, options 
embedded in investment contracts, financial assets held for trading and borrowings. The Group may also be 
indirectly affected by the interest rate changes through their impact on the earnings of certain investees. 
Therefore, the sensitivity analysis of the interest risk given below may not indicate the total effect on the 
Group’s profit and equity. 
 
As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s interest risk arises from the possible changes in the level or volatility 
of the market interest rates available on the Russian market. Debt instruments of the Group include equity 
investments with embedded options which are valued similarly as fixed income securities according to the 
conditions of the option agreements. If at the end of the reporting period these debt instruments are 
evaluated using options as a fair value driver in the option valuation model, they are primarily sensitive to 
changes in the discount rates used in this valuation model. If at the end of the reporting period equity 
investments with embedded options are evaluated using scenario analysis as a fair value driver in the 
valuation model, they are primarily sensitive to equity price risk, and the sensitivity analysis for changes in 
discount rates used in this valuation model is shown below in equity price risk.  
 
The Group’s interest rate exposure also arises on investments held for trading in debt securities, the value 
of which is determined with regard to the market quotes and depends on market interest rate fluctuations. 
The debt securities are classified as held for trading because they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
and/or repurchasing them shortly. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit for the year and equity as at 
31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 to a reasonably possible change in interest rates with all other 
variables held constant. 
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24   Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

 
31 December 2011  31 December 2010 

In millions of  
Russian Roubles 

Reasonably 
possible 

change in 
discount rates 

(%) 

Impact on profit  
and equity 

 Reasonably 
possible 

change in 
discount 
rates (%) 

Impact on profit  
and equity 

Increase (Decrease) 

 

Increase (Decrease) 

Equity investments with 
embedded options +3 / -3 (2,495) 2,901  +1 / -1 (831) 875 

Loans receivable +3 / -3 (1,648) 1,922  +3 / -3 (1,478) 1,674 
Financial assets held 
for trading +0.55 / -0.15 (64) 17  - - - 

Borrowings +3 / -3 (150) 150  +3 / -3 (58) 58 

Total  (4,357) 4,990   (2,367) (2,607) 

 
Changes in the market interest rates do not affect equity apart from their effect shown above. 
 

The Group monitors the interest rate of its financial instruments. Effective interest rates are presented in the 
table below: 

 

 2011  2010 
Russian Rouble Euro USD  Russian Rouble Euro 

Bank deposits 9.2% 2% 2.41%  7.14% 1.34% 
Loans receivable 12.05% - -  11.38% - 
Borrowings 9.01% - -  8.99% - 

 
Equity price risk. The Group’s investments in project companies are exposed to equity price risk arising 
from uncertainties about the future values of the equity instruments. The Company’s Investment Committee 
and Management Board provide the Board of Directors of the Company with investment recommendations 
on specific projects after completing their scientific, technical and financial reviews of the potential projects. 
Financing project companies commences only after the approval of the Board of Directors of the Company. 
For the purpose of managing the price risk, investment managers carry out quarterly monitoring of the 
project companies’ activities and are regularly in contact with management of the project companies on 
business and operational matters. The Group is developing an internal control system to better monitor the 
performance of investments on a regular basis. 
 
OJSC RUSNANO investment restrictions prohibit it from investing more than 10% of its total assets in any 
one company. Total assets for these purposes are computed using the Statutory Financial Statements of 
OJSC RUSNANO as of the last reporting date available before making an investment. 
 
As at 31 December 2011, the fair value of investments exposed to equity price risk was RR 26,819 million  
(31 December 2010: RR 7,884 million), the fair value of equity investments with embedded options exposed 
to equity price risk was RR 10,143 million (31 December 2010: RR 2,238 million) but the exposure was 
limited by the embedded options. Should the market values of these equity instruments, which are not 
traded in the active market, increase or decrease due to reasonably possible changes in market conditions 
by 3%, the profit for the year and equity would increase by RR 2,246 million or decrease by 
RR 1,893 million (2010: reasonably possible change in market conditions increase or decrease by 5%, the 
profit for the year and equity would increase by RR 565 million or decrease by RR 454 million). The estimate 
of this sensitivity is based on a reasonably possible changes in the discount rate for the development phase 
of individual projects.  
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24   Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk. The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash 
resources to settle its obligations and commitments in full as they fall due, or can only do so on terms that 
are materially disadvantageous. The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources.  
 
Investments are made from the retained earnings of the Group and borrowings secured by the guarantees 
issued by the Government of the Russian Federation. The majority of investments in financial assets are 
presented by debt and equity instruments that are not traded in any organised market and may not be 
liquidated quickly except for the financial assets held for trading. As at 31 December 2011, the Group held 
RR 100,520 million in investments that it considered to be illiquid (31 December 2010: RR 58,373 million). 
Management reviews the length of invesments in particular project companies on an annual basis. 
 
The Group periodically invests temporary available cash in short-term bank deposits (Note 12) and 
marketable securities which, under normal market conditions, are readily convertible into cash (Note 10). 
Management monitors a rolling forecast of cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits on the basis of the 
budgeted income and expenses approved by the Board of Directors to manage the liquidity position of the 
Group. Management considers the liquidity position to ensure that the Group has sufficient cash to meet 
operational needs and capital commitments when they fall due. The liquidity porfolio of the Group comprises 
cash and cash equivalents (Note 13), bank deposits (Note 12) and financial assets held for trading (Note 
10).  
 
Maturity analysis of the Group’s financial assets is presented in the table below: 
 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles 

Demand 
and less 

than 
1 month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 months 

More than 
1 year 

More than 
5 years Total 

31 December 2011        
Equity instruments* - - - 17,042 14,179 31,221 
Equity instruments with embedded  
options - - - 30,772 5,756 36,528 
Loans receivable (nominal value) 1 4,691 419 20,437 4,152 29,700 
Financial assets held for trading - 2,783 - - - 2,783 
Financial assets within other 
receivables and prepayments - 960 3,041 - - 4,001 
Bank deposits 144 22,847 40,337 - - 63,328 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,391 - - - - 3,391 
Total financial assets by 
maturity as at 31 December 2011 3,536 31,281 43,797 68,251 24,087 170,952 

31 December 2010       
Equity instruments* - - - 6,991 2,155 9,146 
Equity instruments with embedded 
options - - - 23,400 4,576 27,976 
Loans receivable (nominal value) 2 50 147 17,834 6,277 24,310 
Financial assets within other 
receivables and prepayments 299 - 2,185 136 - 2,620 
Bank deposits - 15,762 - - - 15,762 
Cash and cash equivalents 33,845 - - - - 33,845 
Total financial assets by 
maturity as at 31 December 2010 34,146 15,812 2,332 48,361 13,008 113,659 

* Equity instruments are presented according to their expected exit date. 
 

 
The table below gives financial liabilities as at 31 December 2011 and as at 31 December 2010 analysed by 
maturity. The amounts included in the table by maturity represent contractual amounts without regard to 
discounting, including financial guarantee commitments. These undiscounted cash flows may differ from the 
amounts included in the statement of financial position, as the latter are based on discounted cash flows. 
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24   Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 

Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles Note 

Demand and 
less than 
1 month 

From 1 to 
6 months 

From 6 to 
12 months 

More 
than  

1 year 

More 
than  

5 years Total 
31 December 2011        
Borrowings 15 590 2,328 3,056 47,367 44,973 98,314 
Other payables and accrued 
expenses 16 676 - - - - 676 
Net assets attributable to non-
controlling participants of 
subsidiaries   - - - - 456 456 
Financial guarantees 22 - - 1,703 6,500 - 8,203 
Commitments for equity 
instruments  22 8,093 8,152 3,824 12,928 - 32,997 
Loan commitments 22 2,675 899 1,464 922 - 5,960 
Commitment for XFEL Laser 22 - 516 1,547 3,071 - 5,134 
Total future payments on 
financial instruments 
as at 31 December 2011  12,034 11,895 11,594 70,788 45,429 151,740 

31 December 2010        
Borrowings 15 295 1,580 1,941 22,679 41,267 67,762 
Other payables and accrued 
expenses 16 356 - - - - 356 
Net assets attributable to non-
controlling participants of 
subsidiaries   - - - - 144 144 
Financial guarantees 22 - - - 6,642 - 6,642 
Commitments for equity 
instruments  22 665 1,238 5,013 2,657 - 9,573 
Loan commitments 22 1,201 718 2,317 2,945 - 7,181 
Commitment for XFEL Laser 22 747 747 1,494 4,969 - 7,957 
Total future payments on 
financial instruments  
as at 31 December 2010  3,264 4,283 10,765 39,892 41,411 99,615 

 
The total amount of debt commitments is irrevocable or revocable only in response to an adverse material 
change in the counterparty’s creditworthiness or other circumstances. 
 
25 Management of Capital 
 

The capital of the Group is represented by equity attributable to the Russian Federation (Note 1). 
 
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to implement the policy of the Russian Federation in respect of nanotechnology and 
maintain and enhance an optimal capital base to support the development of nanoindustry in Russia and 
the Group’s investment activities.  
 
The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements. Its financial policy is aimed at maximising equity 
while securing liquidity and financial stability.  
 
The amount of capital that the Group managed as at 31 December 2011 was RR 112,201 million (2010: 
RR 73,918 million). 
 
26 Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by an active 
quoted market price. For fair value estimation, refer to Note 3 for details. As at 31 December 2011, the 
Group has financial assets held for trading which are traded in the active market and have quoted prices.  
 
Financial instruments carried at fair value. Equity investments, equity instruments with embedded 
options and loans receivable amounting to RR 100,520 million are designated at fair value through profit or 
loss at inception and disclosed in Notes 10 and 24.  
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26   Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued) 
 
All these financial assets are valued using valuation techniques that require significant inputs which are not 
observable in the financial markets (Level 3 fair value measurement).  
 
No active market exists for these financial instruments. The Group's management determined the fair value 
of financial instruments using valuation models and discounted cash flows. Inputs to these valuation models 
require judgement considering the factors specific to the future business plans of the underlying project 
companies, their assets and liabilities and the impact on the fair value measurement in its entirety. The 
Group’s valuation models for equity instruments and equity instruments with embedded options are the net 
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on the discounted cash flows model for project 
companies. The Group’s valuation model for loans receivable is based on the net present value of future 
cash flows relating to a loan using individual discount rates for each loan that  are within the range of 12-
16% p.a. (2010: 20% p.a.). Management determined the discount rate for the loans receivable, based on 
comparable loan interest rates, available to companies with a similar risk profile on the Russian market from 
third party banks. 
 
Financial assets held for trading amounting to RR 2,783 million are disclosed in Notes 10 and 24. These 
financial assets are valued using quoted prices in the active markets for identical assets (Level 1 fair value 
measurement).  
 
The following table shows the movements of the financial instruments for the year ended 
31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 by the class of financial instruments and the Level of fair value 
measurement:  
 
 
  Level 1  Level 3  

In millions of Russian Roubles 

 Financial 
assets held 
for trading 

 
Equity 

investments 

Equity instruments 
with embedded  

options Loans Total 

31 December 2010  -  9,146 27,976 21,251 58,373 
        
Purchases  2,960  20,071 7,511 - 30,542 
Loans origination   -  - - 5,619 5,619 
Gains/(losses) recognised in  
profit or loss for the year 

 
(211)  1,596 1,041 6,451 8,877 

Disposals  (217)  - - (550) (767) 
Other movement  251  408 - - 659 
31 December 2011  2,783  31,221 36,528 32,771 103,303 

31 December 2009 
   

1,563 12,818 10,828 25,209 
        
Purchases  -  7,200 10,320 - 17,520 
Loans origination   -  - - 6,673 6,673 
Gains/(losses) recognised in  
profit or loss for the year, including: 

 
- 

 
108 4,002 4,689 8,799 

Remeasurement due to changes 
other than credit risk 

 
- 

 
108 4,002 3,283 7,393 

Remeasurement due to credit risk 
changes 

 
- 

 
- - 1,406 1,406 

Reallocation of day-1 losses from 
debt to equity instruments related to 
the investment package at inception 

 

- 

 

15 789 (804) - 
Other movement  -  260 47 (135) 172 
31 December 2010  -  9,146 27,976 21,251 58,373 

 
There were no transfers between the Levels during the reporting period or the prior year’s comparative 
period. 
 
The sensitivity to valuation assumptions disclosed in Note 24 shows how much the fair value could 
increase or decrease had management used reasonably possible alternative valuation assumptions that 
are not based on observable market data, or had quoted market prices or binding dealer price quotations 
changed. 
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26   Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued) 
 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost. The carrying amounts of each class of financial instruments 
included in other receivables and prepayments approximate fair values. Refer to Note 11. Cash and bank 
deposits are carried at amortised cost, which approximates current fair value. Refer to Notes 13 and 12 for 
details. 
 
Liabilities carried at amortised cost. The carrying amounts of each class of financial instruments included 
in the borrowings and other payables and accrued expenses approximate fair values. Refer to Notes 15 and 
16 for details.  

27 Presentation of Financial Instruments by Measurement Category 
 
For the purposes of measurement under IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
the Group classifies financial assets into the following categories: (a) loans and receivables and  
(b) financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (―FVTPL‖).  
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of financial assets with those measurement categories as at 
31 December 2011: 
 

In millions of Russian Roubles Note 
Loans and 

receivables 
Assets designated 

at FVTPL Total 

Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents     
- Bank balances due on demand  13 3,391 - 3,391 
Bank deposits  12 63,328 - 63,328 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

- Equity instruments  10 - 31,221 31,221 
- Equity instruments with embedded options 10 - 36,528 36,528 
- Loans to the project companies 10 - 32,771 32,771 
- Financial assets held for trading 10 - 2,783 2,783 
Other receivables and prepayments 11 4,001 - 4,001 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS  70,720 103,303 174,023 

 
The following table provides a reconciliation of financial assets with these measurement categories as of 
31 December 2010: 

In millions of Russian Roubles Note 
Loans and 

receivables 
Assets designated 

at FVTPL Total 

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents     

- Bank balances due on demand  13 30,188 - 30,188 
- Cash in transit 13 3,657 - 3,657 
Bank deposits  12 15,762 - 15,762 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

- Equity instruments  10 - 9,146 9,146 
- Equity instruments with embedded options 10 - 27,976 27,976 
- Loans to the project companies 10 - 21,251 21,251 
Other receivables and prepayments 11 2,484 136 2,620 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS  52,091 58,509 110,600 

 
All financial liabilities of the Group are carried at amortised cost at both ends of the reporting periods.  
 
28 Events after the Reporting Period 
 
The loan issued to Usolie – Sibirsky Silicon LLC of RR 4,500 million was fully repaid on 30 March 2012. 
 
In March 2012, the Group opened credit-lines from Bank of Saint Petersburg totaling RR 5,000 million 
and Sberbank totaling RR 23,000 million secured by guarantees issued by the Government of the 
Russian Federation in respect of the creditor. 
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28   Events after the Reporting Period (continued) 
 
In March 2012, the Group sold 40.6% of the bond portfolio as at 31 December 2011. The carrying value of the 
bonds represented within financial assets held for trading as at 31 December 2011 was RR 1,131 million. A 
realized gain of RR 20 million was recognised as a result of bond’s disposal. 
 
In April 2012, the Group issued certified interest-bearing non-convertible bearer coupon bonds with a nominal 
value of RR 20,000 million secured by the guarantees issued by the Government of the Russian 
Federation and with maturity on the 2,548

th
 day from the date of issue. 

 
In May 2012, the Board of Directors has decided to sell its 27.60% share in the equity of Advanced 
Technologies Center, the project company. This transaction will generate the internal rate of return (IRR) 
in the amount of 29.50% on the OJSC RUSNANO’s investment. 
 
Subsequent to 31 December 2011 and through the date of issue of these financial statements, the Group 
provided additional financial resources to project companies totaling RR 16,865 million and debt financing 
totaling RR 3,088 million.  













Группа «РОСНАНО» 
Консолидированный отчет о совокупном доходе 
 

 

Прилагаемые примечания являются неотъемлемой частью данной консолидированной  
финансовой отчетности. 

 
ПЕРЕВОД С ОРИГИНАЛА НА АНГЛИЙСКОМ ЯЗЫКЕ 

2 

 

В миллионах российских рублей Прим. 

За год, 
закончившийся  

31 декабря 
2011 года 

За год, 
закончившийся  

31 декабря 
2010 года 

    
Доходы    

Процентные доходы 17 1 875 2 143 

Доходы от выданных финансовых гарантий  144 83 

Прочие операционные доходы  570 280 

Итого доходы  2 589 2 506 

    

Операционные расходы 18 (5 554) (5 120) 
    
Чистое изменение справедливой стоимости 
финансовых активов, отражаемых по справедливой 
стоимости на счете прибылей и убытков 19 8 877 8 799 
    

ПРИБЫЛЬ ОТ ОПЕРАЦИОННОЙ ДЕЯТЕЛЬНОСТИ  5 912 6 185 
    

Финансовые расходы 20 (4 682) (284) 
    

Прибыль до налогообложения  1 230 5 901 

    

Налог на прибыль 21 (223) (1 931) 
    

ПРИБЫЛЬ ЗА ГОД  1 007 3 970 
    

Прочий совокупный доход    

Курсовые разницы по пересчету в валюту  
представления отчетности 14 990 41 

Итого прочий совокупный доход за год  990 41 

    

ИТОГО СОВОКУПНАЯ ПРИБЫЛЬ ЗА ГОД  1 997 4 011 
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10 Финансовые активы, отражаемые по справедливой стоимости на счете прибылей и 
убытков (продолжение) 

 
Ниже представлена структура инвестиций Группы, отражаемых по справедливой стоимости на счете 
прибылей и убытков:  
 

   

31 декабря 2011 года 
 

31 декабря 2010 года 

В миллионах 
российских рублей   Прим. 

Первона-
чальная 

стоимость 

Справе-
дливая 

стоимость 

 Первона-
чальная 

стоимость 

Справе-
дливая 

стоимость 

     

 

  
Долевые инструменты 10.1 29 014 31 221 

 
8 800 9 146 

Долевые инструменты со 
встроенными опционами 10.2 30 786 36 528 

 
23 281 27 976 

Итого долевые инструменты, отражаемые 
по справедливой стоимости на счете 
прибылей и убытков  59 800 67 749 

 

32 081 37 122 

   

 

  Долгосрочная часть займов 
выданных  - 23 032 

 
- 20 548 

Текущая часть займов 
выданных  - 9 739 

 
- 703 

Итого займы, выданные 
проектным компаниям 10.3 29 700 32 771 

 

24 310 21 251 

     

 

  Финансовые активы, 
предназначенные для 
торговли 

 
10.5 3 004 2 783 

 

- - 

     

 

  
Итого инвестиции     92 504 103 303 

 
56 391  58 373 

 
 
По мнению руководства, финансовые модели, которые были использованы при первоначальной 
оценке справедливой стоимости, являются надежными; кроме того, они были уточнены с учетом 
фактов и обстоятельств, известных руководству на 31 декабря 2011 года. 
  
Если наилучшим доказательством справедливой стоимости при первоначальном признании 
является цена сделки, то может возникнуть разница между справедливой стоимостью на дату 
первоначального признания и стоимостью, которая была определена с использованием модели 
оценки на эту дату. Совокупная разница, которая еще только должна быть признана в составе 
прибылей или убытков представлена в таблице ниже: 

В миллионах российских рублей     

31 декабря  
2010 года 

Прибыли  
1 дня при 

первоначальном 
признании 

31 декабря  
2011 года 

      
Долевые инструменты 

 
1 494 (371) 1 123 

      Долевые инструменты со встроенными 
опционами 1 522 509 2 031 

      
Итого     3 016  138 3 154 

 

 
 






















































